#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ENOCH D. HALL,	)
	)
Appellant,	)
	)
VS.	) CASE NO. SC10-182
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)
	)
Appellee.	)

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

### **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

JAMES S. PURDY PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

MEGHAN ANN COLLINS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER Florida Bar No. 0492868 444 Seabreeze Blvd. - Suite 210 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118-3941 (386) 254-3758

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

### **

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal is comprised of thirty-five consecutively numbered volumes. In this brief, the symbol "R" will designate page numbers of the pleadings in the record on appeal, and the symbol "T" will designate the pages of the transcripts (numbered separately from the pleadings). Counsel will refer to the record on appeal using either "R" or "T"; followed by an Arabic number referring to the appropriate pages; followed by "Vol." followed by the appropriate Arabic number to designate the volume number, as denoted by the court clerk, and not the transcript volume numbers given by the court reporter.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged the Appellant, Enoch D. Hall, by indictment with the first degree murder by stabbing of Donna Fitzgerald, in violation of Section 782.04(1)(a)1, Florida Statutes (2008). (R1017-1018;Vol.7). The State filed a Notice to Seek the Death Penalty (R1022;Vol.7), and the Appellant entered a plea of not guilty to the charges. (R1031;Vol.7). At the time of the offense, the Appellant was an inmate at the Tomoka Correctional Institution and Officer Fitzgerald worked as a corrections officer at the facility.

The Appellant unsuccessfully contested the legality of Florida's death penalty statute under *Ring v. Arizona*, 536 U.S. 584 (2002). (R1124-1172; Vol.8). The Appellant contended, *inter alia*, that the statute unconstitutionally requires that the death penalty be imposed by a judge rather than by jury, that the statute fails to require fact-finding by the jury, that it fails to require jury unanimity on the recommendation and on each aggravator, and that it fails to require that the State list the relevant statutory aggravators in the indictment. (R1124-1172; Vol.8). The court denied the motion (R 1399; Vol.9). The Appellant also moved to preclude the death penalty as a possible sentence, because the indictment fails to allege aggravating circumstances (R1055-57; Vol.7). The court denied the motion (R 1396; Vol.9). The court also denied defense counsel's request for interrogatory

verdicts for the penalty phase (R1429-1432; Vol.9, R1592; Vol.10).

The Appellant filed a motion to suppress the three statements given investigators from the Florida Department of Law Enforcement, (FDLE), on the night of the murder (R1411-1412; Vol.9). The Appellant argued that the statements were not freely and voluntarily made, but were rather the result of the Appellant being in fear for his life due to being physically abused and beaten by employees of the Florida Department of Corrections (R1411; Vol.9). The Appellant argued that the statements had been obtained in violation of Appellant's privilege against self incrimination and in violation of his rights to due process and counsel as guaranteed by the Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, Sections 9, 16, 22 of the Florida Constitution (R1411; Vol.9). After conducting an evidentiary hearing, the court denied the motion to suppress (R1516-1521; Vol.10). In the order denying the motion, the court ruled that even if the Appellant had initially been beaten or threatened by corrections officers prior to his initial statement that "the effects of such abuse upon the voluntariness of his subsequent statement to the FDLE clearly had been dissipated" (R1520; Vol.10).

Prior to trial, the Appellant moved in limine to preclude the State from introducing evidence during the guilt/innocence phase of the charges for which the

Appellant was serving his prison sentences and the length of any of his sentences (R1468-1469;Vol.9). The Appellant also moved in limine to preclude the State from introducing into evidence during the penalty phase the length of the Appellant's prison sentences that he was serving at the time of the alleged murder (R1470-1471;Vol.9). The court granted the first motion and precluded the introduction of the evidence at the guilt phase, but denied the second motion as to the penalty phase (R1588,1589-1590;Vol.10).

A jury trial commenced before the Honorable J. David Walsh, Circuit Judge of the Seventh Judicial Circuit of Florida, in and for Volusia County, on October 12, 2009. (R1623; Vol.10).

At the close of the State's case, defense counsel moved for a directed verdict of second degree murder arguing that the State had failed to prove that the Appellant had acted with premeditation (T2654-2657;Vol.28). The court denied the motion for a directed verdict (T2660;Vol.28).

During the testimony of the medical examiner, Dr. Predrag Bulic, defense counsel objected to the doctor testifying about the order in which injuries were inflicted upon Officer Fitzgerald (T2639;Vol.28). Defense counsel argued that the doctor was not qualified to give an opinion as to the order of injuries (T2639;Vol.28). The court overruled the objection (T2639;Vol.28).

The jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged of first degree murder (R2893;Vol.30). The court adjudicated the Appellant guilty of the charge (R2899;Vol.30).

Penalty phase of the trial commenced on October 27, 2009 (R1666; Vol.10). The defense renewed their previously argued motion in limine to preclude the State from offering evidence of the length of the Appellant's sentence to the jury (T2933; Vol.31). The trial court denied the motion and the State offered evidence that the Appellant was serving two life sentences at the time he committed the offense (T3039; Vol.31). The State also offered evidence that Appellant had committed prior violent felonies, introducing testimony from two women that the Appellant had sexually battered (T2966: Vol.31). Defense counsel objected to the testimony as highly prejudicial and irrelevant (T2966-67; Vol.31). The trial court overruled the objection (T2967; Vol.31). The jury returned a recommendation of death, by a vote of 12 to 0. (R1725; Vol.11).

A Spencer<sup>1</sup> hearing was held on December 7, 2009 (R1729; Vol.11).

In the sentencing order, the court found that the state had proven five aggravating circumstances (R1790-1799;Vol.11). The court gave very great weight to two aggravators: heinous, atrocious, or cruel [§921.141(5)(h)] and cold,

5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Spencer v. State, 615 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1993).

calculated, and premeditated [§921.141(5)(I)]. The court gave great weight to the remaining three: that the killing was committed by a person previously convicted of a felony and under sentence of imprisonment [§921.141(5)(a)]; the defendant was previously convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person [§921.141(5)(b)]; the killing was committed to disrupt or hinder the lawful exercise of any governmental function or the enforcement of laws [§921.141(5)(g)] (R1790-1799; Vol.11). The court had also found the aggravator that the victim was a law enforcement officer engaged in the performance of her official duties [§921.141(5)(j)], but concluded that this aggravator merged with the hinder governmental function aggravator and subsequently gave it no weight (R1790-1799, 1810; Vol.11).

The court found that no statutory mitigators had been established (R1810;Vol.11).

As to non-statutory mitigation, the trial court considered twelve possible mitigators and found that only eight had been established (R1800-1810;Vol.11) The court found: the defendant was a good son and brother (some weight); the defendant's family loves him (little weight); the defendant was a good athlete who won awards and medals (little weight); the defendant was a victim of sexual abuse (some weight); the defendant was productively employed while in prison (some

weight); the defendant cooperated with law enforcement (some weight); the defendant showed remorse (little weight); and the defendant displayed appropriate courtroom behavior (little weight) (R1800-1806; Vol.11).

The court found that the following four non-statutory mitigators were not established and assigned them no weight: the defendant suffered from work related stress; the defendant was under the influence of drugs at the time of the homicide; the defendant was suffering from impaired judgment; the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance (R1803, 1803-1804,1804, 1806-1809; Vol.11).

The court concluded that the five aggravating circumstances "far outweigh" the established non-statutory mitigating factors and sentenced Appellant to death for the first-degree murder. (R1810;Vol.11)

Notice of appeal was timely filed on January 29, 2010. (R 1822; Vol.11) This appeal follows.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At trial, in defense counsel's opening statement, the Appellant conceded that he had killed Officer Fitzgerald and was guilty of second degree murder (T2000-2003;Vol.23;Vol.1).

The Appellant, Enoch Hall, grew up on a five acre farm outside of Milton, Florida with his parents and two younger brothers (T3161,3165;Vol.32). His mother was a housewife, his father worked at local textile plant, and the brothers had chores to do on the farm (T3161, 3162, 3165, 3170;Vol.32). He was an obedient child who never got into trouble at school (T3166-3167;Vol.32). When he got older, he played football and won awards for running track (T3167, 3172;Vol.32). The three brothers enjoyed riding dirt bikes and three wheelers together (T3167-3168;Vol.32).

When Enoch Hall was nineteen years old he was arrested, placed in jail, and raped (T3193;Vol.32). Mr. Hall had taken his girlfriend's car, her mother and her mother's boyfriend were both law enforcement officers (T3193;Vol.32). The mother's boyfriend told Mr. Hall's father that he was going to take Mr. Hall to jail and "get him raped" (T3194;Vol.32). After the rape, Mr. Hall withdrew from his family, he no longer liked to be around people, and he became afraid of law enforcement officers (T3195;Vol.32).

Years later, Mr. Hall was serving two consecutive life sentences at Tomoka Correctional Institution in Volusia County, Florida (T3039;Vol.31) While serving his time, Mr. Hall worked as a welder in the PRIDE compound at the prison (T2082; Vol.24).

PRIDE is not part of the Florida Department of Corrections, (DOC), rather it is a company that has a contract with DOC (T2142; Vol.24). Correction officers who are working in the PRIDE compound are employees of the PRIDE company, however only a state-certified correctional officer was permitted to supervise inmates in the PRIDE facility (T2143-2144; Vol.24).

The PRIDE compound consists of numerous outbuildings and one main bay area where inmates refurbish large vehicles, such as semi-trucks and buses (T2036;Vol.24). During PRIDE's normal operating hours, approximately 7:00 to 3:30, up to 70 inmates would work in the facility (T2142;Vol.24). Sometimes there would be an overtime shift, which began after 3:30 p.m. (T2143;vol.24).

In order to enter the PRIDE compound, an inmate must pass through a set of two gates (T2037;Vol.24). By the gates there is an officer station where the inmates clock in and out (T2065;Vol.24). The inmates have time cards, which they place in either the "In" bin or the "Out" bin (T2137-2138;Vol.24). There is a metal detector that inmates must pass through as they exit the compound

(T2037; Vol.24).

Inside the main PRIDE building is a bay area and a welding area (T2095;Vol.24). There are racks of sheet metal and bins of scrap metal (T2094-2095;Vol.24). Mr. Hall's work station was in the welding area (T2096;Vol.24). There are numerous other welders working at PRIDE besides Mr. Hall (T2143:Vol.24).

Mr. Hall was known for always being the last one to leave the PRIDE facility (T2574-2575; Vol.27). The inmates have to clean up their areas before they leave the facility (T2572; Vol.27). The inmates get paid by the hour, so one guard suspected he was hoping to earn a little bit more money by always leaving late (T2574-2575; Vol.27). When inmates leave PRIDE they must go through the check out procedure, which involves walking through the metal detector and getting a pat down by the corrections officer (T2574; Vol.27). After the inmates have left, a count is called into the control room and the supervising officer turns in the PRIDE keys (T2575-2576; Vol.27). Inmates were not permitted to "hang out" in the PRIDE facility (T2576; Vol.27). Officer Frederick Evins, who often worked the overtime shift at PRIDE, testified that in his opinion all inmates knew that the corrections officer would go and find them if they were not accounted for at the end of the shift (T2577;Vol.27).

Officer Fitzgerald was filling in for another officer when she worked the overtime shift on the night of June 25, 2008 (T2009, 2079; Vol.23). That night, Sergeant Suzanne Webster, a corrections officer at Tomoka C.I., was working as the control room supervisor (T2004-5; Vol.23). The control room monitors all alarms, passes out keys, and is responsible for getting a count from all areas of the prison as to the number of inmates in that area (T2006; Vol.23). When Sgt. Webster started her shift that day, as approximately 4:05 p.m., she requested that all areas report in a count of their inmates (T2005-2006; Vol.23). Officer Fitzgerald called Sgt. Webster and told her that 13 inmates were working in the PRIDE compound (T2006,2008; Vol.23).

Later that evening, at approximately 7:30 p.m., Sgt. Webster realized she had not heard from Officer Fitzgerald (T2008-2009;Vol.23). The officer that normally works that shift would call prior to releasing inmates from the PRIDE compound (T2008-2009;Vol.23). The key box in the control room was checked and it was determined that the PRIDE keys had not yet been turned in by Officer Fitzgerald (T2009;Vol.23). The PRIDE keys unlock all the buildings and individual locks within the PRIDE buildings (T2009,2082;Vol.23).

When Sgt. Webster was unable to contact Officer Fitzgerald by radio or by phone, she radioed Officer Chad Weber, an inside security officer, and told him to

check on Officer Fitzgerald (T2010-2011; Vol.23).

After Officer Weber went to the PRIDE facility there was a lot of confusion on the radio and Sgt. Webster heard yelling, so she called out the alpha response team for backup to the PRIDE building (T2012-2013;Vol.23). She later called out the bravo response team when she heard over the radio, that an officer was down (T2012-2013;Vol.23).

Officer Weber was in the office of Captain Shannon Wiggins when he received the call from Sgt. Webster (T2029-2030; Vol.24). Officer Weber immediately went with Sgt. Bruce MacNeil to the PRIDE compound (T2030,2057; Vol.24). When they arrived at the compound they saw that the gates at the entrance of the PRIDE compound were closed, but not properly locked (T2030-2031,2058; Vol.24). The two officers initially did a sweep around the outside of the PRIDE buildings, then they entered the main PRIDE building, after noticing that the North door of the building was cracked open (T2031,2058; Vol.24). The officers entered the building through the North door and proceeded to walk through it to the South end of the building (T2031-2032,2058; Vol.24). The building was dark, because the lights for the facility had been turned off (T2031; Vol.24). When Officer Weber reached the South end of the building, he turned around, looked at the North door, and saw Mr. Hall run out the door

(T2032,2039;Vol.24).

The officers chased Mr. Hall as he ran around the exterior of the PRIDE to the South door, through the interior of the building, and back out the North door (T2032-2033, 2069;Vol.24). Sgt. MacNeil called for backup and advised Captain Wiggins of the situation (T2058,2079;Vol.240. When Mr. Hall exited the North door a second time, Officer Weber was waiting for him (T2033;Vol.24). Officer Weber testified that Mr. Hall put his hands in the air and immediately confessed to killing Officer Fitzgerald by repeatedly stating, "I freaked out, I snapped, I killed her." (T2033;Vol.24).

Officer Weber ordered Mr. Hall to place his hands on the wall, so he could be handcuffed and noticed that Mr. Hall had the set of PRIDE keys looped around his thumb (T2033-2034;Vol.24). Officer Weber took the keys from Mr. Hall and placed him in handcuffs (T2034;Vol.24). Officer Weber estimated that Mr. Hall was apprehended approximately three to five minutes after the two officers entered the PRIDE compound (T2034;Vol.24).

Sgt. MacNeil came out of the PRIDE building and saw Mr. Hall being handcuffed (T2040,2070; Vol.24). Sgt. MacNeil also heard Mr. Hall repeatedly confess, "I snapped, I killed her." (T2071; Vol.24).

The officers asked Mr. Hall for the location of Officer Fitzgerald

(T2041;Vol.24). Mr. Hall did not respond to their question, but instead continued mumbling what he had stated before, "I freaked out, I snapped, I killed her." (T2042, 2046;Vol.24).

By this time, Captain Wiggins and members of the alpha response had responded to the PRIDE compound (T2041-2042,2081;Vol.24). As he ran up to the officers, Captain Wiggins heard Mr. Hall muttering and yelling that he had snapped and killed "her" (T2083;Vol.24). Mr. Hall said it over and over again (T2083;Vol.24). Only one time did Captain Wiggins heard Mr. Hall say, "I'm sorry." (T2141;Vol.24). Captain Wiggins sent the backup officers to search the facility, while he talked to Mr. Hall and asked him where Officer Fitzgerald was (T2072,2085;Vol.24). Mr. Hall cooperated with Captain Wiggins and tried to explain that Officer Fitzgerald was in a paint room / office of one of the PRIDE facilitators (T2083;Vol.24). Mr. Hall was about to lead Captain Wiggins into the PRIDE building to show him where her body was, when Officer Burch ran out and said there was an officer down (T2085;Vol.24).

Officer Chad Burch was one of the officers who responded (T2047;Vol.24). As he had entered the PRIDE compound, Officer Burch heard Sgt. MacNeil yelling at Mr. Hall (T2054;Vol.24). Officer Burch went around the north side of the PRIDE building and saw Mr. Hall in handcuffs with Sgt. MacNeil and Officer

Weber (T2048;Vol.24). Officer Burch heard Sgt. MacNeil and Officer Weber asked Mr. Hall what he had done with Officer Fitzgerald and Mr. Hall repeatedly say, "I'm sorry, I snapped, I killed her." (T2049-2055;Vol.24).

Officer Burch checked the PRIDE building and noticed a light on in a room down a hallway (T2049;Vol.24). Inside the room, Officer Burch found the body of Officer Fitzgerald (T2049;Vol.24). Officer Burch went back outside and screamed, "Officer down." (T2050, 2072-3;Vol.24).

Captain Wiggins immediately told Mr. Hall to get down and he put Mr. Hall on the ground (T2086;Vol.24). Sgt. MacNeil and Captain Wiggins ran to the paint room/ office, leaving Mr. Hall in the custody of Officer Schweit and Officer Dickerson (T2073, 2085-2086, 2090;Vol.24).

Officer Fitzgerald was found lying face down on top of a cart (T2073, 2122;Vol.24). The upper part of her body was wrapped tightly in gray wool blankets (T2073;Vol.24). The bottom half of her body came over the back of the cart (T2073;Vol.24). She was naked from the waist down; her pants and underwear had been pulled down to her knees (T2073-2074, 2122-2123;Vol.24). A bucket of water was on the floor right next to Officer Fitzgerald's legs (T2123;Vol.24). Inside the bucket was Mr. Hall's shirt (T2123;Vol.24).

Sgt. MacNeil and Captain Wiggins looked for a pulse, while Officer Weber

went to check that medical assistance was en route (T2043, 2074; Vol.24). Officer Fitzgerald was not breathing and they were unable to locate a pulse (T2074, 2123-2124; Vol.24).

Captain Wiggins ordered a master count of all inmates and a security check of all officers (T2125-2126;Vol.24). He then ordered that Mr. Hall be escorted to the MTC building and secured in the hallway (T2126;Vol.24).

The medical building is referred to as the MTC building (T2053;Vol.24). The building has two sections, one is a medical facility and the other part of it is the confinement section (T2054;Vol.24). There is hallway between the two sections and Mr. Hall was initially taken to that hallway and was seated on a bench; he was later placed in the confinement section (T2054;Vol.24).

Mr. Hall was escorted to the medical facility by Officer Dickerson and Officer Gary Schweit (T2053;Vol.24). Officer Scwheit testified that he heard Mr. Hall say that he had flipped out, or words to that effect (T2147;Vol.24). Officer Schweit said that Mr. Hall looked like he had done something that he shouldn't have (T2149; Vol.24). Officer Burch saw Mr. Hall being escorted to the MTC building and said Mr. Hall walked with his head hanging low and he was sobbing (T2053-2055;Vol.24).

Officer Hector Olavarria relieved Officer Schweit as he stood watch over

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