IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC10-182

ENOCH D. HALL

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

PAMELA J. BONDI
ATTORNEY GENERAL

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE
KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY
Fla. Bar No. 998818
SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
444 SEABREEZE BLVD., SUITE 500
DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32114
(386)238-4990
FAX-(386)226-0457

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

injuries to the victim were inflicted first. Florida law is settled that the admissibility of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court, and the trial court's ruling will not be reversed unless there has been a clear abuse of that discretion. *Ray v. State*, 755 So. 2d 604, 610 (Fla. 2000); *Zack v. State*, 753 So. 2d 9, 25 (Fla. 2000); *Cole v. State*, 701 So. 2d 845 (Fla. 1997); *Jent v. State*, 408 So. 2d 1024, 1039 (Fla. 1981); *General Elec. Co. v. Joiner*, 522 U.S. 136, 118 S.Ct. 512, 517, 139 L.Ed.2d 508 (1997) (stating that all evidentiary rulings are reviewed for "abuse of discretion").³⁷

Hall's brief suggests that the medical examiner testified to the precise order in which the 22 "sharp force injuries" Hall inflicted on his victim took place. That is not what the testimony was. Instead, the medical examiner testified in more general terms, stating:

A. We know that she was alive when she received all these injuries, so we can eliminate that there was any postmortem injury. And since there were defensive wounds, **I would say** that they came first because a person is at the time fighting for -- with the attacker and **the most likely sequence** of acquiring these injuries is the defensive wounds came first. So all the wounds on the hand -- on the -- on both arms came first.

Q. On the upper arm.

³⁷ It is possible to construe Hall's claim as one based on *Frye v. United States*, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923). However, he does not cite to *Frye* cases in his brief, and did not argue *Frye* as the basis of the objection below. (V28, R2639). No *Frye* claim is preserved for review.

A. And the upper arm.

Second, **most likely** what the sequence of these injuries is that the abdominal injuries came second. **And since they were not lethal injuries and the person was, at the time, still relatively vital.** And then the last injuries were injuries on the back where some of them were immediately lethal, especially both lungs were collapsed and there was a stab into the heart. At that point the victim probably expired rather quickly.

(V28, R2639-40). (emphasis added). As the highlighted portion of the testimony shows, the testimony was phrased in terms of "most likely," and, when fairly considered, makes sense, especially since there were three discrete areas of injuries. There is simply nothing objectionable about this testimony, which probably explains why there was no cross-examination on this issue.

None of the cases cited on page 52 of Hall's brief stand for the proposition that this testimony was improper. In fact, in *Perez v. State*, 919 So. 2d 347, 378 (Fla. 2005), the medical examiner testified about which wounds likely came first. *Douglas v. State* 878 So. 2d 1246, 1251 (Fla. 2004) is similar. Moreover, it hardly strains credulity to conclude that defensive wounds on the extremities came before fatal, incapacitating stab wounds that penetrated the heart and lungs. The only remaining set of wounds were those to the victim's abdomen, and, again, it is not a stretch to conclude that that set came second. Hall's derisive comments about Dr. Bulic are baseless and unfounded -- he never

said that he "above all other medical examiners, was able to give an accurate opinion on such impossible matters." *Initial Brief*, at 54. Dr. Bulic's testimony was carefully qualified, and there is simply no error at all. This claim has no legal or factual basis, and is not a basis for relief.

III. THE PRIOR VIOLENT FELONY AGGRAVATOR

On pages 55-61 of his brief, Hall says that it was error to allow evidence about the details of Hall's prior convictions for sexual battery. Florida law is settled that the admissibility of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court, and the trial court's ruling will not be reversed unless there has been a clear abuse of that discretion. *Ray v. State*, 755 So. 2d 604, 610 (Fla. 2000); *Zack v. State*, 753 So. 2d 9, 25 (Fla. 2000); *Cole v. State*, 701 So. 2d 845 (Fla. 1997); *Jent v. State*, 408 So. 2d 1024, 1039 (Fla. 1981); *General Elec. Co. v. Joiner*, 522 U.S. 136, 118 S.Ct. 512, 517, 139 L.Ed.2d 508 (1997) (stating that all evidentiary rulings are reviewed for "abuse of discretion"). Whether the probative value of the evidence is substantially outweighed by its prejudicial impact is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Rodriguez v. State*, 753 So. 2d 29, 42 (Fla. 2000) (observing that broad discretion rests with the trial court to determine whether the probative value of evidence sought to be admitted is substantially outweighed by unfair prejudice, and a trial court's decision to admit the evidence

will not be disturbed absent a showing of abuse of discretion); *Sims v. Brown*, 574 So. 2d 131, 133 (Fla. 1991) (noting that the weighing of relevance versus prejudice or confusion is best performed by the trial judge, who is present and best able to compare the two).

In the context of capital sentencing, a defendant's prior violent felony conviction cannot be proven by "testimonial hearsay." As this Court has said:

We note that **before** *Crawford* [*v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 (2004)] - and when this penalty phase was held - we considered such hearsay testimony [from the investigating officer] the less prejudicial method of presenting evidence of prior convictions because it was "generally beneficial to the defendant for the jury to hear about those details from a neutral law enforcement official rather than from prior witnesses or victims." *Rodriguez v. State*, 753 So.2d 29, 44 (Fla.2000).

Rodgers v. State, 948 So. 2d 655, 664 n.5 (Fla. 2006).

(emphasis added). In addressing this issue, this Court has said:

At the outset of the penalty phase, the defense renewed its offer to stipulate to the previous violent felony and under sentence of imprisonment aggravators, but the court ruled that the State was entitled to decline the offer and present evidence concerning the prior felonies. The State then elicited testimony from Mary Louise Hamilton and Michael Bishop, both of whom were working at a convenience store the appellant robbed in 1980. Next, Judith and Earl Turner testified regarding the appellant's burglary of their home, during which he attacked the couple as they slept, covering Mrs. Turner's face with his hand while striking Mr. Turner in the head with a three-hole punch.

Finally, the State presented Bonnie Primeau to testify with regard to a sexual assault perpetrated upon her in 1989. During the attack, she was dragged out of a convenience store, pushed over a wall (resulting in her leg being broken), endured Cox's unsuccessful attempts to orally and anally rape her, and was then vaginally raped by Cox. Our examination of the record reveals that each of these witnesses tersely related the crimes committed against them, and each was able to do so without any emotional display.

Appellant asserts that the introduction of this evidence was contrary to the holding of *Old Chief v. United States*, 519 U.S. 172, 117 S.Ct. 644, 136 L.Ed.2d 574 (1997), and resulted in a deprivation of his rights to due process and a fair trial. Both *Old Chief* and this Court's decision implementing *Old Chief* in Florida, *Brown v. State*, 719 So. 2d 882 (Fla. 1998), make their holdings clear:

[W]hen requested by a defendant in a felon-in-possession of a firearm case, the trial court must approve a stipulation whereby the parties acknowledge that the defendant is, without further elaboration, a prior convicted felon.

Id. at 889. The United States Supreme Court decision turned on the Court's conclusion that in cases where "the point at issue is a defendant's legal status," the probative value of live testimony describing the defendant's prior felony is outweighed by the risk of unfair prejudice such evidence also carries. See *Old Chief*, 519 U.S. at 185-92, 117 S.Ct. 644. While both opinions addressed broader issues in the form of *dicta*, this Court explicitly limited its holding to felon-in-possession of a firearm cases. See *Brown*, 719 So. 2d at 889.

It is clear that this Court has not construed *Old Chief* to have established a rule of law that those found guilty of first-degree murder may simply stipulate to prior violent felony convictions and thereby prohibit the State from introducing any evidence thereof whatsoever. In *Elledge v. State*, 706 So. 2d 1340 (Fla. 1997), a case decided eight months

after the Supreme Court's *Old Chief* decision, we stated:

Elledge next asserts that the trial court erred in allowing the state to introduce the details of two prior violent felony convictions ... because he offered to stipulate to their validity. This issue has been decided adversely to Elledge. We likewise find from our review of the record that the details of the two prior homicides did not become a feature of the case. Thus, we find no error.

Id. at 1344 (citations omitted); see also *Rhodes v. State*, 547 So. 2d 1201 (Fla. 1989); *Tompkins v. State*, 502 So. 2d 415 (Fla. 1986).

We have consistently stated that "any relevant evidence as to the defendant's character or the circumstances of the crime is admissible [during capital] sentencing" proceedings. *Stano v. State*, 473 So. 2d 1282, 1286 (Fla. 1985); see also *Rhodes*, 547 So. 2d at 1204 ("Testimony concerning the events which resulted in the [prior] conviction assists the jury in evaluating the character of the defendant and the circumstances of the crime so that the jury can make an informed recommendation as to the appropriate sentence."); § 921.141(1), *Fla. Stat.* (2001) ("In the [capital sentencing] proceeding, evidence may be presented as to any matter that the court deems relevant to ... the character of the defendant"). Thus, the holdings of *Old Chief* and *Brown* are not properly analogized to this capital sentencing proceeding, where "the point at issue" is much more than just the defendant's "legal status."

As "[a]dmission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed unless there has been a clear abuse of that discretion," *Ray v. State*, 755 So. 2d 604, 610 (Fla. 2000), there is no basis to reverse the ruling of the court below admitting testimonial evidence of the appellant's prior violent felonies at trial. This evidence was not emphasized to the level of rendering the prior offenses a central feature of the penalty phase. [FN12] See *Rodriguez v. State*, 753 So. 2d 29,

44-45 (Fla. 2000); *Finney v. State*, 660 So. 2d 674, 683 (Fla. 1995). Therefore, we affirm the trial court's decision allowing the admission of this evidence.

[FN12] The record reflects each witness's simply relating Cox's crimes against him or her. No emotional displays or breakdowns occurred.

Cox v. State, 819 So. 2d 705, 715-717 (Fla. 2002). There was no abuse of discretion in the admission of the facts of Hall's prior sexual batteries.³⁸

The testimony about Hall's prior offenses consumed approximately 73 pages of the transcript. (V31, R2967-3038).³⁹ In the context of this trial, that is a small part of the evidence that the jury heard. Simply put, 73 pages of a transcript that is 900 pages long is hardly a feature of the trial, and is

³⁸ None of the cases relied on by Hall support relief in this case. *Duncan v. State*, 619 So. 2d 279 (Fla. 1993), found the admission of a gruesome photograph harmless error, and *Rhodes v. State*, 547 So. 2d 1201 (Fla. 1989), was concerned with a pre-*Caldwell* hearsay issue. *Stano* stands for the settled proposition that "[i]n a sentencing proceeding **the state may introduce testimony as to the circumstances of a prior conviction, rather than just the bare fact of that conviction.** *Mann v. State*, 453 So. 2d 784 (Fla. 1984), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 1181, 105 S.Ct. 940, 83 L.Ed.2d 953 (1985); *Elledge v. State*, 346 So. 2d 998 (Fla. 1977)." *Stano v. State*, 473 So. 2d 1282, 1289 (Fla. 1985). (emphasis added).

³⁹ A substantial portion of those transcript pages reflect arguments by counsel and other matters that the jury did not hear.

certainly not a basis for relief.⁴⁰ Under Florida law, the state had a right to present the details of Hall's prior offenses. *See, Dufour v. State*, 495 So. 2d 154 (Fla. 1986); *Elledge v. State*, 346 So. 2d 998 (Fla. 1977). Both of Hall's prior offenses involved lengthy abductions which simply took some time to describe -- in other words, Hall's prior offenses were not robberies that took less than two minutes to commit and can be described quickly. Hall committed the offenses described at the penalty phase, and should not be heard that the details of his prior handiwork are such that the telling takes some time. The facts are what they are, and those facts do not establish an abuse of discretion by the trial court.

Alternatively, the result of the penalty phase would not have been different in the absence of the testimony of Hall's prior victims. The murder of Donna Fitzgerald is heavily aggravated, and the mitigation is virtually non-existent. If there was error, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

IV. THE "NON-STATUTORY AGGRAVATION" CLAIM

On pages 62-63 of his brief, Hall says he is entitled to a new penalty phase because the jury was informed that he was serving two life sentences when he murdered Officer Fitzgerald.

⁴⁰ The testimony does not appear to be particularly emotional, especially under the circumstances.

Florida law is settled that the admissibility of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court, and the trial court's ruling will not be reversed unless there has been a clear abuse of that discretion. *Ray v. State*, 755 So. 2d 604, 610 (Fla. 2000); *Zack v. State*, 753 So. 2d 9, 25 (Fla. 2000); *Cole v. State*, 701 So. 2d 845 (Fla. 1997); *Jent v. State*, 408 So. 2d 1024, 1039 (Fla. 1981); *General Elec. Co. v. Joiner*, 522 U.S. 136, 118 S.Ct. 512, 517, 139 L.Ed.2d 508 (1997) (stating that all evidentiary rulings are reviewed for "abuse of discretion"). Whether the probative value of the evidence is substantially outweighed by its prejudicial impact is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Rodriguez v. State*, 753 So. 2d 29, 42 (Fla. 2000) (observing that broad discretion rests with the trial court to determine whether the probative value of evidence sought to be admitted is substantially outweighed by unfair prejudice, and a trial court's decision to admit the evidence will not be disturbed absent a showing of abuse of discretion); *Sims v. Brown*, 574 So. 2d 131, 133 (Fla. 1991) (noting that the weighing of relevance versus prejudice or confusion is best performed by the trial judge, who is present and best able to compare the two).

In addressing this same issue, this Court said:

Defendant claims that the prosecutor emotionally inflamed the jury by referring to his previous life sentence for a murder committed in 1967 and to the

life sentence imposed for the D.C. murder following the commission of the present murder, and concluding that "if life meant life" both Chavez and the D.C. victim would be alive today. At trial, defendant objected on the ground that the prosecutor was arguing outside the evidence. The trial judge properly overruled the objection because both convictions were obtained prior to the sentencing here and were properly introduced as aggravating factors. § 921.141(5)(b), *Fla.Stat.* (1977). Defendant's argument on appeal that the jury was emotionally inflamed was not presented at trial and, thus, was not properly preserved for appeal. § 90.104(1)(a), *Fla. Stat.* (1981); *United States Fire Insurance Co. v. Dickerson*, 82 Fla. 442, 90 So. 613 (1921). Even had it been preserved, it would have no merit. **The record shows that defendant was sentenced to life imprisonment for first-degree murder in 1967, and later murdered two additional persons. Under these circumstances, it is manifestly obvious that "if life meant life" the defendant would not have murdered these two additional victims.** The prosecutor did not predict that the defendant would murder again if sentenced to life imprisonment and paroled after twenty-five years. This latter argument we have condemned in *Teffeteller v. State*, 439 So. 2d 840 (Fla. 1983), *cert. denied*, 465 U.S. 1074, 104 S.Ct. 1430, 79 L.Ed.2d 754 (1984). See also *Harris v. State*, 438 So. 2d 787 (Fla. 1983), *cert. denied*, 466 U.S. 963, 104 S.Ct. 2181, 80 L.Ed.2d 563 (1984).

Parker v. State, 456 So. 2d 436, 443-444 (Fla. 1984).

(emphasis added). This is not a "non-statutory aggravator," but rather is simply a fact relating to Hall's two prior convictions. If there was no error in *Parker*, and that is the law, there is no error here, either.

Alternatively and secondarily, any error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). The length of Hall's prior sentences had no effect on the

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